I. INTRODUCTION

The Appellant is requesting a review of the Chancellor's finding in regards to the equitable distribution of marital property. "This Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Bell v. Parker*, 563 So.2d 594, 596-97 (Miss.1990).

In other words, "[o]n appeal this Court is required to respect the findings of fact made by a chancellor supported by credible evidence and not manifestly wrong." *Newsom v. Newsom*, 557 So.2d 511, 514 (Miss.1990). The word "manifest," as defined in this

Newsom. 557 So.2d 511, 514 (Miss.1990). The word "manifest," as defined in this context, means "unmistakable, clear, plain, or indisputable." Black's Law Dictionary 963 (6th ed.1990). *Turpin v. Turpin*, 699 So.2d 560, 564 (Miss.1997) (quoting *Magee v. Magee*, 661 So.2d 1117, 1122 (Miss. 1995)). The Appellant requests the review of the Chancellor's decision because due to a bifurcation of the hearings, the findings of the Chancellor were manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was

II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

applied.

- 1. Whether the Chancellor committed reversible error when she determined that funds held in Appellant's credit union account were subject to distribution as marital property?
- 2. Whether the Chancellor committed reversible error in awarding Appellee' equity in rental property in which the Appellee did not make "substantial contribution" toward the acquisition of the property?

¹ This Appellant respects the wisdom and judgment of the Chancellor in this matter and believes that the oversights were the result of various factors associated with the hearing of this case.

- 3. Whether the Court committed reversible error in not considering the Appellant's employment status in its Ferguson analysis?
- 4. Whether the Chancellor committed reversible error in awarding Mr. Wilson 100% of his retirement to Mr. Wilson?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Penny Wilson and Gregory Wilson were married on April 13, 2000. The parties moved into a home that Penny Wilson purchased in 1999. The parties had one daughter together, born in April of 1998. Ms. Wilson had two daughters from a previous marriage and Mr. Wilson had a son from a previous relationship. Mr. Wilson moved into the home with Ms. Wilson on or about April 13, 2000 after their marriage. Mr. Wilson commuted to and from St. Louis Missouri for his employment with Entergy for the first five years of the marriage. Ms. Wilson was employed with Delphi Packard Electric when the parties married; however, her employment with Delphi Packard Electric spanned a period of twenty (20) years.

Prior to the marriage Ms. Wilson had acquired certain assets that included savings of approximately \$17,000² and a Silver Share Certificate with a value of approximately \$42,347³ During the marriage, Ms. Wilson was gifted with approximately \$10,000 from her mother and inherited approximately \$7,500 associated with the death of her father.⁴ Mrs. Wilson was employed with Packard Electric as she was at the time of the marriage.⁵ During the period that Mr. Wilson was away, Mr. Wilson would send money home to Ms. Wilson for expenses

 $^{2 \}text{ As of } 9/30/1999$, Ms. Wilson had \$17,201.02 saved in an account at Member's Exchange Credit Union. (See Exhibit 10).

³ See Exhibit 11. The date of the Silver certificate is 7/20/99, approximately nine (9) months prior to her marriage to Mr. Wilson.

⁴ See Exhibit 10 and T. pg. 131 - 132

⁵ Ms. Wilson's employment with Packard Electric spanned a period of 19 years.

associated with the household.⁶ At no time during the marriage did the parties have joint checking or savings accounts.

In or about 2005, Ms. Wilson learned that Delphi Packard Electric had filed bankruptcy and that the company would be closing. ⁷ She made a decision to purchase rental property as an investment vehicle that she could utilize when she became unemployed. Mr. Wilson testified that he was not aware of the property⁸ and made no contributions toward the purchase of the properties.

During the marriage, Ms. Wilson purchased four (4) pieces of property, one piece purchased with her daughter and titled in her name and her daughter's name. ⁹ Prior to making the purchases, Ms. Wilson spoke with Mr. Wilson about joining her in the venture. He declined and decided to invest his extra money into a joint venture with his brother. ¹⁰ The parties had difficulties throughout the marriage and had filed for divorce at least twice prior to this divorce action. Ms. Wilson was granted a divorce on the grounds of Habitual Cruel and Inhuman Treatment on January 15, 2010. All other issues were held in abeyance until a final hearing set for February 1, 2010.

The minor child, a daughter, at the age of 13 years old elected to live with her father. The Court inadvertently did not address child support in the Final Judgment and the case should be remanded to address child support obligations of the Appellant.

⁶ Mr. Wilson stated that he did not pay any bills per se. I gave her a check for half of whatever our total costs for the month was. (See T. pg 145). In a letter to Ms. Wilson (See Exhibit 16), Mr. Wilson in which he states that "Even the bills, I should have made sure all the money was there on time for every bill or done my best even if my personal ones were not paid."

⁷ See T. pg. 89.

⁸ See T. pg. 149

⁹ The property address is 3821 Newman Avenue. (See T. pg. 85). This property is jointly owned by Ms. Wilson and her daughter and she has only ½ of the equity in this property.

¹⁰ During testimony Mr. Wilson stated that he took money from the marriage to invest into a barber/beauty shop with his brother but he did not provide any money to his wife on buying properties (T. pg. 165-166).

The list of assets were prepared for the Court by the parties and provided to the Chancellor for consideration. The assets included six (6) pieces of property, four (4) automobiles and liquid assets totaling approximately \$298,450.00. 11

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. Whether the Chancellor committed reversible error when she determined that all of the funds held in Appellant's credit union account were subject to distribution as marital property?

The Supreme Court has consistently held that all property acquired during the marriage is marital property. The Supreme Court has also consistently held that property acquired prior to the marriage or was the result of inheritance or gifts were not marital property and should be considered the separate estate of the parties unless they were commingled or the character of the property was changed due to "family use". The Chancellor's oversight in her analysis because she did not review evidence that showed that the Appellant had marital assets prior to the marriage, that she was the beneficiary of monies due to the death of her father and that she was the beneficiary of a gift from her mother that was never commingled with marital assets and therefore were retained as a separate estate by the Appellant.

2. Whether the Chancellor committed reversible error in awarding Appellee' equity in rental property in which the Appellee did not make "substantial contribution" toward the acquisition of the property?

The Chancellor committed reversible error in awarding the Appellee equity in rental property that the Appellee did not make "substantial contributions" to the acquisition of and

¹¹ The bulk of the funds were in a savings account in Ms. Wilson's name at Member's Credit Union. The account was a mixture of funds that she had prior to the marriage, funds that she inherited and funds that she received as a part of a severance package from Packard Electric when the company closed in May of 2010.

made written representations to that fact.¹² During the course of the nine year marriage with the Appellee, the Appellant acquired property. The property was 1) Williamson Avenue; 2) 3829 Newman Avenue; 3). Sanford Street; 4) and 3821 Newman Street.

The Ferguson factors which govern equitable distribution have been set forth by this Court as follows:

(1) substantial contributions to the accumulation of the property, including economic and domestic contributions by each party to the marriage, (2) expenditures and disposal of the marital assets by each party, (3) the market value and emotional value of the marital assets, (4) the value of the non-marital property, (5) tax, economic, contractual, and legal consequences of the distribution, (6) elimination of alimony and other future frictional contact between the parties, (7) the income and earning capacity of each party, and (8) any other relevant factor that should be considered in making an equitable distribution.

Selman v. Selman, 722 So.2d 547, 552 (Miss.1998). (emphasis added.)

The Appellant directs the Court to <u>Kilpatrick v. Kilpatrick</u>, 732 So.2d 876 (Miss.1999), in which this Court reversed a chancellor for failing to make the required findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the distribution of the marital estate. Id. at 881. While the chancellor did enumerate the actual property division, the chancellor made no conclusions of law to support the division of the marital estate. Id. at 878-88. This Court reversed and remanded for specific findings of fact stating that "[w]ithout findings from the Chancellor concerning this income or use of income, we cannot determine if the distribution of property outlined above meets the standards of equitable distribution required by *Ferguson*." Id. at 881.

¹² The record consists of three letters from Mr. Wilson that provide the Chancellor with a written declaration that he was not responsible for the accumulation of the property and that he was not seeking to acquire equity in any of the property... that is, until she received a divorce. (See Exhibits 14, 15, 16).

The Appellant finds this to be the case in the case at bar and the case should be remanded to the Chancellor for review of the *Ferguson* factors in association with the acquisition of the property by the Appellant. The action should be remanded for an appropriate *Ferguson* analysis.

3. Whether the Court erred in not considering the Appellant's employment status in its Ferguson analysis?

The Court in its review of the *Ferguson* factors expounded that both parties had equal earning capacity. The Court did not acknowledge that at the time of the divorce the Appellant was separated from her employment. With this separation came the lack of medical and dental insurance, the accumulation of retirement funds and a basic instability in the financial life of the Appellant or the job market. The Appellant has been unemployed and continues to be unemployed since her separation from Packard Electric. The Appellant has sought employment and has returned to school to enhance her employment opportunities. As a result, the Appellant's only source of income was unemployment and rental income that was nebulous at best. The Appellant, as a result, has to expend her savings in order to continue to live.

4. Whether the Chancellor's award of 100% of Mr. Wilson retirement to Mr. Wilson was in error?

The Court awarded Mr. Wilson 100% of his retirement in manifest disregard that it awarded Ms. Wilson a 25% stake in the Appellant's severance package from Packard.

The Chancellor determined that the Appellee was entitled to 25% of the Appellant's severance from her employment. The Chancellor further determined that the Appellee should be awarded 100% of his retirement. The Chancellor's determination was manifestly wrong and the Appellant should be awarded one-half of the Appellee's retirement.

ARGUMENTS

1. Whether the Chancellor failed to classify certain assets held by the parties prior to the marriage as non-marital prior to making a distribution of the assets?

The Chancellor failed to classify certain assets held by the Appellant prior to the marriage as non-marital assets. As a result, the Chancellor failed to take into consideration the property assets that were held by the Appellant prior to the marriage and included the funds into the calculation for distribution of assets. The trial was bifurcated and as a result, the Appellant believes that the classification of the savings prior to the marriage, inheritances and gifts as marital property was an oversight on the part of the Chancellor. The *Hemsley* Court has that that "assets accumulated during the marriage are, for the purpose of this divorce, marital property subject to equitable division unless it can be shown by proof that such assets are attributable to one of the parties' separate estates prior to the marriage or outside the marriage." *Hemsley v. Hemsley*, 639 So.2d 909, 914, 915 (Miss.1994).

Testimony and evidence was provided to the Court that prior to the marriage the Appellant purchased the marital home at 2846 Fall Brook.¹³ The Appellant also prior to the marriage had accumulated \$17,402.02¹⁴ and another \$42,347.32¹⁵. There was testimony that Ms. Wilson received \$6000 from the death of her father and another \$1500 from an asbestosis settlement associated with her father's death.¹⁶ Ms. Wilson was also given as a gift \$10,000 which was placed into the Member's Exchange account and there was no co-mingling of these assets. The total funds that Ms. Wilson held that should have been considered as non-marital

¹³ The Appellant is not disputing that the marital home was converted to marital property by virtue of the family use doctrine.

¹⁴ See T. pg. 127 and Exhibit 10.

¹⁵ See Exhibit 11.

¹⁶ See T. pg. 131.

\$77,248.34 was not marital assets and should not be included in the calculation for distribution. There was no evidence that the assets were converted by commingling or utilized for domestic purposes and therefore the Chancellor erred in not giving Ms. Wilson credit for those funds in the distribution of the Member's Exchange account. The Chancellor erred in determining that the funds in the Member's Exchange Account was martial property because the funds were a mixture of savings held prior to the marriage, inheritance and funds awarded to the Appellant as a result of her severance from her employment with Packard Electric. This is especially true because the funds were not commingled and the Appellee made no contribution to the acquisition of the funds. In McKissack v McKissack, 45 So. 3d 716 (Miss. App., 2010), the Court determined that the Chancellor improperly applied the family use doctrine to classify the certificates of deposits held by the husband as marital property. The Appellant contends that the Chancellor in the case at bar has also misapplied the doctrine in regard to the funds held at Member's Exchange.

First, the funds were held in the name of the Appellant and her mother only. The funds were accumulated as a result of 1) savings held prior to the marriage, 2) inheritance from the death of the Appellant's father, 3) a gift from her mother and 4) severance from her employment at Packard Electric. The funds, based on the evidence, should be declared non-marital. The funds were not commingled and the Appellee were not entirely aware of the existence of the funds until the bank records were subpoena in preparation for the distribution associated with the divorce.

The bulk of the funds were the result of an award of severance to the Appellant based on an agreement that she would continue to work until the plant closed over a period of three years.

The Appellant was given \$35,000 for three years (income) and \$50,000 upon the close of the plant. The Appellant continued to receive her normal salary during this period.

The Court in <u>Cross v Cross</u>, (Miss. App., 2010) acknowledges that "the same application of the family-use doctrine to cash or cash equivalents is rather tenuous." The Appellant agrees. The record is clear and noted by the Court in its Final Judgment of Equitable Distribution of Marital Property notes "This was not a marriage where the parties shared finances except for payment of expenses." The Appellee provided testimony that he made payments to the Appellant each month to cover the expenses.

The Supreme Court in <u>Pearson v Pearson</u>, 761 So. 2d 157 (Miss. 2000) held that a holding company that held separate assets from James Pearson's former business was not commingled with marital assets. The Appellant contends that the funds in the Member's Exchange were not used for familial purposes and there was no commingling that would change the character of the funds to marital. The court held that separate property becomes marital if it is placed in a joint account. See, e.g. <u>A & L, Inc. v Grantham</u>, 747 So. 2d 832, 839 (¶21-22) (Miss. 1999); <u>Tillman v Tillman</u>, 716 So. 2d 1090, 1095 (¶20) (Miss. 1998).

The Court in its analysis of this factor failed to give consideration to the funds in the Member's Exchange account that were the separate estate of the Appellant. The difference in the severance amount and the amount held in the Member's Exchange Account equated to \$62,278.00. The \$62,278 is representative of what the Appellant would have had in the account prior to the payment of the severance payments. This \$62,278 makes up the separate estate of the Appellant. The funds were not commingled and were derived from a pre-marital source, inheritance and a gift. The Appellant would request that the Court reviews its determination of

the award to the Appellee giving the Appellant credit for the portion of the funds that were determined by testimony to be a separate estate that was not commingled and was not utilized for "familial purposes" and therefore retained its character of a separate estate.

2. Whether the Chancellor erred in awarding Mr. Wilson with equity in the rental property as he made no "substantial contribution" to the accumulation of the assets?

During the course of the nine year marriage with the Appellee, the Appellant acquired property. The property was 1) Williamson Avenue; 2) 3829 Newman Avenue; 3). Sanford Street; 4) and 3821 Newman Street.

The *Ferguson* factors which govern equitable distribution have been set forth by this Court as follows:

(1) substantial contributions to the accumulation of the property, including economic and domestic contributions by each party to the marriage, (2) expenditures and disposal of the marital assets by each party, (3) the market value and emotional value of the marital assets, (4) the value of the non-marital property, (5) tax, economic, contractual, and legal consequences of the distribution, (6) elimination of alimony and other future frictional contact between the parties, (7) the income and earning capacity of each party, and (8) any other relevant factor that should be considered in making an equitable distribution.

Selman v. Selman, 722 So.2d 547, 552 (Miss.1998). (emphasis added.)

The Ferguson Court propounded that in <u>Jones v Jones</u>, 532 So. 2d 574, 580, recent cases have struggled with the definition of "contribution" within the context of the acquisition of assets.

The court has stated "[i]f contribution toward the acquisition of assets is proven by the divorcing party, then the court has the authority to divide these 'jointly' accumulated assets." Id. at 580.

During the marriage, the Appellant made a decision to purchase property to be used as an investment. The Appellant acquired various pieces of property during the course of the marriage. The Appellant asked her husband if he was interested in investing in rental property and he declined. ¹⁹ The Appellee did not make any payments on the property and did not pay taxes or insurance on the property. The Appellee went into a joint venture with his brother instead. ²⁰ The Appellee went so far as to put it in writing that "being of sound mind and body, do hereby declare that in nom manner do I wish or desire to own or have half or any of your rental properties (no matter how many they may be) and furthermore have no desire to receive any monies collected by buying or selling of any of the above mentioned properties." ²¹

The Court in <u>Flechas v. Flechas</u>, 791 So. 2d 295 (Miss. App. 2001) was confronted with an alleged oral agreements between the parties in regards to division of asset at the conclusion of the marriage. The Chancellor in the case, at bar, was provide with written testimonial from the husband in which he rejected the properties that the judge determined were a part of the marital

¹⁹ See T. pgs. 165-166

²⁰ See T. pgs. 85 – 89.

²¹ Mr. Wilson went even further and stated that "I view your houses as I always have, that is to say, as yours. I wish to have or own no portion of your properties but do not hold the highest regard and best wishes for you in your goals and accomplishments. (See T. pg. 90).

estate and subject to distribution.²² The Chancellor provided the Appellant no reason, legal or otherwise, why the repudiation by the Appellee was not considered.

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