IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2011-7S-00619

PENNY WILSON

V.

GREGORY WILSON

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Judges of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. PENNY WILSON, APPELLANT
- 2. EARNESTINE ALEXENDER, COUNSEL FOR PENNY WILSON
- 3. JOANIE POTTER, PRIOR COUNSEL FOR PENNY WILSON
- 4. GREGORY WILSON, APPELLEE
- 5. TAMEKIA R. GOLIDAY, COUNSEL FOR GREGORY WILSON
- 6. JOYCE FUNCHES, COUNSEL FOR GREGORY WILSON
- 7. HONORABLE DENISE OWENS, CHANCEPY COURT JUDGE

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

Johnson v. Johnson, 650 So.2d 1281 (Miss. 1994) 16
Johnson v. Johnson, 877 So.2d 485 (Miss. 2003) 12
Jones v. Jones, 532 So.2d 574 (Miss.1988) 21
Larue v. Larue, 969 So.2d 99 (Miss.Ct.App.2007) 12
Lockert v. Lockert, 815 So.2d 1267 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) 14,15
Madison County v. Hopkins, 857 So.2d 43 (Miss. 2003) 10
<i>Rice v. Perma Corp.</i> , 908 So.2d 875 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) 11
Pierce v. Pierce, 42 So.3d 658 (Miss. Ct. App. 2011) 21
Phillips v. Phillips, 904 So.2d 999 (Miss.2004) 22
<i>Pittman v. Pittman</i> , 791 So.2d 857 (Miss.Ct.App.2001) 23
Redmond v. Miss. Dep't of Corr., 910 So.2d 1211 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) 11
Russell v. Russell, 733 So.2d 858 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999) 24
Shoffner v. Shoffner, 909 So.2d 1245 (Miss. Ct. App.2005) 11
Sproles v. Sproles, 782 So.2d 742, 748 (Miss.2001) 14
Stewart v. Stewart, 864 So.2d 934 (Miss. 2003) 14
Striebeck v. Striebeck, 911 So.2d 628 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) 17,18
Waring v. Waring, 747 So.2d 252 (Miss. 1999) 12
Wright v. Wright, 737 So.2d 408 (Miss. Ct. App 1999) 20,21
Yancey v. Yancey, 752 So.2d 1006 (Miss.1999) 12
RULES

. .

-

-

Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 2(a)	
Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a)	

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

WHETHER THIS APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS UNTIMELY?

WHETHER THERE EXISTS SUBSTANTIAL, CREDIBLE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE MARITAL ASSETS MADE BY THE CHANCERY COURT?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

This is a divorce action between Gregory Wilson, hereinafter "*Gregory*", and Penny Wilson, hereinafter "*Penny*". The parties were married on April 13, 2000, and have one child together, Tatyana Keturah Wilson, hereinafter "*Tatyana*", born on April 2, 1998. (CP, p. 1 - 5)(TT, p. 83).

On or about November 16, 2009, Penny filed a complaint for divorce in the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi against Gregory alleging habitual cruel and inhuman treatment as the grounds for divorce. (CP, p. 1 - 5). The chancery court, on January 15, 2010, entered an unconstested judgment of divorce in favor of Penny on the grounds of habitual cruel and inhuman treatment but held the issues of custody of the minor child and distribution of the martial assets in abeyance until a later hearing. (CP, p. 8).

On February 18, 2010, Gregory filed an answer to the complaint and a counterclaim seeking custody of the minor child and equitable distribution of the martial assets. (CP, p. 23 - 31). A hearing was held on August 3, 2010, before the Chancery Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi regarding the custody of Tatyana and on January 26, 2011, a judgment of custody and visitation was entered which gave joint legal custody to the parties and sole physical custody to Gregory. (CP, p. 56 - 64).

Also, on January 26, 2011, a hearing was held to address equitable distribution of the marital assets and a final judgment of equitable distribution of martial property was entered

on March 25, 2011. (CP, p. 66 - 79). The chancellor valued the martial assets at \$454, 696.51 and awarded Gregory \$92,069.67 of the assets and Penny \$362,626.84. Aggrieved by the distribution of the marital property, Penny filed an untimely notice of appeal on April 26, 2011.

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gregory and Penny were married on April 13, 2000, and have one child together, Tatyana Keturah Wilson, born on April 2, 1998. (CP, p. 1 - 5)(TT, p. 83). The marriage could easily be classified as toilsome since Penny, with little provocation, often physically and verbally attacked Gregory and on several occasions, locked him out of the martial home. (TT, p. 47)(TT, p. 57 - 58)(TT, p. 160-162). One particular night, Tatyana, awoke to screaming and ran into the kitchen where she found Penny beating Gregory violently with a belt. (TT, p. 58)(TT, p. 177 - 178)(TT, p. 198).

During the marriage, Gregory was primarily responsible for cooking, helping Tatyana with her homework, ironing clothes, and putting Tatyana to bed. (TT, p. 27 - 28)(TT, p. 57)(TT, p. 149)(TT, p. 196 - 197). While Gregory was caring for the child in the evenings, Penny was working, relaxing in another part of the home or talking on the telephone. (TT, p. 29)(TT, p. 210). Gregory developed strong relationships with Tatyana's teachers and was active in the school PTA organization. (TT, p. 29). He enrolled Tatyana in ballet and afterschool care, and took her shopping and to the movies. (TT, p. 30)(TT, p. 48 - 49). Gregory also took Tatyana to the doctor and cared for her when she was sick. (TT, p. 33 - 34).

After the parties separated, Tatyana elected to live with her father because she thought "I do better in school with him, and it will be more – he'll pay more attention to me and stuff. He'll try to make me happy and encourage me and do everything he can to make sure that I'm doing well in school and stuff." (TT, p. 61).

In 1998, Penny purchased a home located at 2846 Fallbrook Drive, Jackson, Mississippi but after getting married, Gregory moved into the home with Penny. (TT, p. 24-25)(TT, p. 90 - 91). The parties lived in the home together until they divorced on or about January 15, 2010. (CP, p. 8)(TT, p. 24 - 25)(TT, p. 83). During the marriage, Gregory made various repairs and improvements to the home, including but not limited to replacing the air conditioner unit, remodeling the guest bathroom, painting and rewiring the house. (TT, p. 95)(TT, p. 146-147). At the time of the divorce, the appraised value of the marital home was \$80,000.00, with an outstanding mortgage of \$40,614.65. (TT, Exhibit 6)(TT, Exhibit 7)(TT, p. 71 - 72)(TT, p. 93)(TT, p. 116)(TT, Exhibit 9).

During the marriage, Penny worked at Delphi -Packard and sold Avon products on a part-time basis while Gregory worked at Entergy. (TT, p. 27)(TT,p. 32). They equally contributed to and paid the household bills, taxes and expenses: each "*paid half mortgage, lights, gas and water.*" (TT, p. 4)(TT, p. 101)(TT, p. 125)(TT, p. 144)(TT, p. 175). Gregory was solely responsible for the cable bill and also, purchased groceries and supplies for the household. (TT, p. 145). The parties "*never paid taxes; we never filed income together; we never put money together period.*" (TT, p. 92)(TT, p. 99). Gregory would give Penny extra money if he worked side jobs and when she went on vacation. (TT, p. 192).

F	REAL PROPERT	Y	
PROPERTY DESCRIPTION	Acquired by Whom	VALUE	EQUITY
2713 Halls Ferry Road Vicksburg, Mississippi	Gregory owns ¹ / ₂ interest in the property.	\$28,830.00	\$6,415.00 (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 72)
3821 Newman Avenue Jackson, Mississippi	Penny owns 1/2 interest in the property.	\$24,950.00	\$12,475.00 (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, Exhibit 7) (TT, p. 111)
101 Sanford Street Jackson, Mississippi	Penny	\$39, 890.00	\$39,890.00 (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 110)
3829 Newman Avenue Jackson, Mississippi	Penny	\$34,120.00	\$34,120.00 (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 111)
2556 - 58 Williamson Avenue Jackson, Mississippi	Penny	\$21,450.00	\$21,450.00 (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 112)
PEH	RSONAL PROPE	RTY	
2006 Trail Blazer	Gregory	\$15,000.00	\$0.00 Penny stipulated that she wants no interest in the 2006 Trail Blazer. (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 75)
1997 Nissan Pickup	Gregory	\$1,000.00	\$1,000.00 (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 75)

While married, the parties acquired the following real and personal property:

ŧ

1999 Mazda Protégé	Gregory	\$1,500.00	\$1,500.00 Penny stipulated that she has no interest in the 1999 Mazda Protégé. (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 76)
2006 CTS Cadillac	Penny	\$15,000.00	\$15,000.00 (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 74)
2007 Pontiac Vibe	Penny	\$4,000.00	\$4,000.00 (TT, Exhibit 3) (TT, p. 75)
Members Exchange Account	Penny	\$217,278.86	\$217,278.86 (TT, p. 104 - 105)(TT, Exhibit 4)
Regions Bank Account	Penny	\$8,082.09	\$8,082.09 (TT, p. 106 - 107)(TT, Exhibit 5)
Trustmark Bank Account	Penny	\$50.00	\$50.00 (TT, p. 107)
Wells Fargo Retirement Account	Gregory	\$41,222.00	\$41,222.20 (TT, p. 181) (TT, Exhibit 2)
Riverland Credit Union Account	Gregory	\$500.00	\$500.00 (TT, Exhibit 2)
Trustmark Bank Account	Gregory	\$500.00	\$500.00 (TT, Exhibit 2)
Mutual Credit Union Account	Gregory	\$25.00	\$25.00 (TT, Exhibit 2)
Delphi Savings Plan	Penny	\$14,000.00	\$14,000.00 (TT, Exhibit 1)

.

•

.

Prior to the divorce, the parties amicably divided the household furnishings. (TT, p. 97). However, Penny withdraw the funds from the Members Exchange, Regions Bank and Trustmark Bank accounts before the final hearing on this matter and refused to advise the chancery court as to the location of the funds. (TT, p. 120 - 121). A reasonable inference can be drawn that Penny is dishonest and lacks credibility since she disposed of martial assets prior the final hearing on this matter and was unwilling to disclose the whereabouts of the assets.

In 2006, Penny's father died and left her \$6,000.00. (TT, p. 131). She also received \$1,500.00 as the result of an asbestos settlement. (TT, p. 131). Penny deposited a small portion of the funds in her savings account at Members Exchange and used the larger portion to repair and close in the garage on the marital home. (TT, p. 131). The cost of repairing and closing in the garage totaled approximately \$5,000.00. (TT, p. 94).

During the marriage, Penny received \$10,000.00 from her mother, Betty Hedrick, as payment for her interest in the property located at 3828 Newman Avenue, Jackson, Mississippi. (TT, p. 138 - 139). Betty Hedrick gave Penny the money because "*I wanted the house to be cleared in case something happens to me, Penny would have no say of that house*," "she would have no say in that house, period," and it "would be Pamela Hedrick's house, you know, on her own." (TT, p. 138 - 139).

At the time of the divorce, Penny alleged that she was unemployed and was surviving on unemployment benefits of \$235.00 per week, however, there was evidence that Penny worked for Life Alert Company selling their product lines. (TT, p. 45)(TT, p. 83). Penny worked for Delphi-Packard for twenty (20) years but the company went out of business and her last day of employment was February 19, 2010. (TT, p. 84 - 85).

After finding out that Delphi-Packard was closing, she agreed to stay with the company for approximately three years and assist them with closing down the facility. (TT, p. 132). As such, she was given a severance package which totaled \$155,000.00 (TT, p. 132). Penny deposited the monies in her savings account with Members Exchange. (TT, p. 133)(TT, p. 135).

Penny acknowledged during the trial that she purchased five rental properties after initially learning that Delphi-Packard was closing so that she "*would help the family, with us being married*," could generate "*something to live on*," and have "*some kind of income coming in*". (TT, p. 89). Although Penny purchased the properties, Gregory substantially contributed to and increased the value of the properties by performing electrical and wiring repairs on the majority of the rental properties. _____. (TT, p. 149 - 150)(TT, p. 165 - 166). The parties together repaired and improved the condition of the rental properties. (TT, p. 151).

Penny testified at trial that she makes approximately \$6,000.00 annually from the rental properties, however, she indicates on her Form 8.05 that she makes approximately \$1,700.00 per month from her rental properties. (TT, p. 98)(TT, Exhibit 1). Her monthly bills and expenses total approximately \$2,000.00, which she is capable of paying based on the monthly earnings of \$2,640.00 reported on her Form 8.05. (TT, p. 119)(TT, Exhibit 1). Penny has no revolving credit card: she only has mortgage and utility bills. (TT, p. 123).

Penny's mother, Betty Hedrick, described Penny as "frugal with her money" and "she could, as they say, hold a dollar till it hollers." (TT, p. 139).

Penny purchased a 2006 CTS Cadillac for \$29,000.00 in cash after learning that Delphi-Packard was closing. (TT, p. 95). Approximately three months after being laid off from Delphi-Packard, while allegedly unemployed, Penny purchased a 2007 Pontiac Vibe for \$7,600.00. (TT, p. 95 - 96)(TT, p. 117). When asked where she got the money to purchase the Vibe, she initially testified that "*I was working*" and "*I had gotten money for work*". (TT, p. 118). Later, Penny changed her testimony and indicated that "*I used some of my savings to buy the car*." (TT, p. 118). A reasonable inference can be drawn that Penny was less than honest and gave questionable testimony during the trial since she gave inconsistent testimony regarding the means used to purchase the 2007 Pontiac Vibe.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal should be dismissed since the notice of appeal was untimely filed: it notice was filed thirty-two (32) days after the March 25, 2011, final judgment was entered.

In the alternative, if this Honorable Court finds the notice of appeal to be timely, the March 25, 2011, final judgment should be affirmed because there exists substantial, credible evidence that the chancery court, after considering the evidence and testimony presented during trial, properly evaluated and applied the *Ferguson* factors when equitably dividing the marital assets of the parties.

III. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

On appeal, the findings of a chancellor generally will not be reversed unless she "was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." Madison County v. Hopkins, 857 So.2d 43, 47 (Miss. 2003). Put another way, "chancellors are afforded wide latitude in fashioning equitable remedies in domestic relations matters, and their decisions will not be reversed if the findings of fact are supported by substantial credible evidence in the record." Henderson v. Henderson, 757 So.2d 285, 289 (Miss. 2000).

This Court is prohibited from substituting its judgment for that of the chancellor, even if it disagrees with the findings of fact and would arrive at a different conclusion. *Coggin v. Coggin*, 837 So.2d 772, 773 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). The chancellor heard the testimony of witnesses, observed their demeanor and is in the best position to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses. *Ivy v. Ivy*, 863 So.2d 1010, 1013 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004); *Culbreath v. Johnson*, 427 So.2d 705, 708 (Miss.1983). As such, this Court is duty bound to give due deference to the chancellor's credibility determinations. *Id.*

In domestic relations matters, the sole job of this Court is to determine whether there was substantial, credible evidence supporting the chancellor's findings such that the decision was not manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. *In re Estate of Carter v. Shackelford*, 912 So.2d 138, 143 (Miss. 2005). *"When reviewing a chancellor's judgment in property division we are not to conduct a Ferguson analysis anew, but are to review the judgment to ensure*

that the chancellor followed the appropriate standards and did not abuse his discretion." Shoffner v. Shoffner, 909 So.2d 1245, 1250 (Miss.Ct.App.2005).

Generally, this Court ought and will affirm a trial court sitting without a jury on a question of fact *unless* based upon substantial evidence, the court was manifestly wrong. *Jackson Public Sch. Dist. v. Smith*, 875 So.2d 1100 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004); *Havens v. Broocks*, 728 So.2d 580 (Miss. 1998). As such, this Honorable Court should affirm the ruling of the Hinds County Chancery Court so long as the decision is supported by substantial, credible evidence.

B. THE APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE IT IS UNTIMELY.

Mississippi appellate courts are without jurisdiction where a notice of appeal is not timely filed. *Rice v. Perma Corp.*, 908 So.2d 875, 878-79 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(a) requires that a party file a notice of appeal within thirty days following entry of the judgment from which the appeal is taken. Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 2(a) states that "*an appeal shall be dismissed if the notice of appeal was not timely filed pursuant to Rule 4.*" The time limits for perfecting an appeal are strictly enforced, and filing the notice even one day late requires dismissal of the appeal. *Redmond v. Miss. Dep't of Corr.*, 910 So.2d 1211, 1212 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

In the case *sub judice*, Penny filed her notice of appeal thirty- two (32) days after entry of the May 25, 2011, judgment from which the appeal is taken: the notice of appeal was filed on April 26, 2011, two days after the thirty day period elapsed. Therefore, the notice of appeal was untimely and this appeal should be dismissed.

C. THE JUDGMENT OF THE CHANCERY COURT SHOULD BE AFFIRMED SINCE THERE EXISTS SUBSTANTIAL, CREDIBLE EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE DISTRIBUTION OF THE MARITAL ASSETS.

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